IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 66,178

DEPARTMENT OF INSURANCE and BILL GUNTER, in his official capacity as Insurance Commissioner of Florida,

Appellants,

VS.

DADE COUNTY CONSUMER
ADVOCATE'S OFFICE and
WALTER T. DARTLAND, as
Director of the Dade County
Consumer Advocate's Office,

Appellees.

SDIV

JAN 16 1985 V

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

APPELLANTS' INITIAL BRIEF

Appeal from the District Court of Appeal, First District Case No. AV-400

Curtis Ashley Billingsley Attorney Department of Insurance 539 Larson Building Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 488-1295

Jim Smith Attorney General

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 1977, Joseph Blumenthal, a licensed Florida insurance agent, brought a lawsuit challenging the constitutionality of two statutes contained in the Florida Insurance Code, Sections 626.611(11) and 626.9541(1)(h)1., Florida Statutes (1983), hereinafter referred to as the "anti-rebate statutes."

Blumenthal v. Department of Insurance, Case No. 77-355 (2d Cir., Leon County). Upon reaching the merits of Mr. Blumenthal's claim, the Circuit Court held the statutes constitutional. Mr. Blumenthal appealed directly to the Supreme Court of Florida, but before the Court could decide the appeal, he died. Subsequently, the Court dismissed the appeal. Blumenthal v. Dep't of Insurance, 375 So.2d 910 (Fla. 1979).

On May 17, 1983, the Dade County Consumer Advocate's Office joined by Walter T. Dartland (hereinafter DCCA), filed a Complaint initiating the instant action in the Second Judicial Circuit, Leon County. Mr. Dartland brought this action both on his own behalf and in his capacity as director of the DCCA. The DCCA moved for Summary Judgment. The Department of Insurance and Bill Gunter (hereinafter Department) did not answer the Complaint and moved to dismiss the action. After receiving memoranda and hearing oral argument, the Honorable Ben C. Willis, Circuit Judge, entered summary judgment for the Department. No evidentiary proceeding was held before the trial court. In the order of judgment, Judge Willis held in the absence of an

evidentiary record that "Florida Statutes 626.9541(8)(a)¹ and 626.611(11) which forbid the granting of rebates by insurance agents, are a valid exercise of the police power of the State of Florida and a valid exercise of its regulatory authority to protect the public from discrimination." R. 85-86. The DCCA filed its notice of appeal to the First District Court of Appeal on October 25, 1983.

On August 17, 1984, the District Court issued its opinion finding the anti-rebate statutes unconstitutional. The District Court concluded, without benefit of an evidentiary record, that it was unable to find any legitimate state interest justifying the continued existence of the anti-rebate statutes. In response to the Department's motion for rehearing, the District Court issued a corrected opinion on October 24, 1984. Pursuant to Rules 9.030(a)(1)(A)(ii) and 9.110, Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, the instant appeal was timely filed on November 20, 1984.

^{1/} Section 626.9541(8)(a), Florida Statutes (1982 Supp.) has been subsequently renumbered as 626.9541(1)(h)1., Florida Statutes (1983).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Because the Department filed a motion to dismiss, it did not file an answer to the DCCA's Petition. While the DCCA moved for summary judgment, the trial court granted summary judgment in favor of the Department. Accordingly, there are no facts in evidence in this case upon which to present a Statement of the Facts.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Sections 626.611 and 626.9541, Florida Statutes (1983), constitute part of a comprehensive regulatory scheme for review by the Department of Insurance of the business activities of Florida insurance agents.

Section 626.611 provides in pertinent part:

Grounds for compulsory refusal, suspension or revocation of agent's, solicitor's, or adjuster's license or service representative's, supervising or managing general agent's or claims investigator's permit. -- The department shall deny, suspend, revoke, or refuse to renew or continue the license of any agent, solicitor, or adjuster or the permit of any service representative, supervising or managing general agent, or claims investigator, and it shall suspend or revoke the eligibility to hold a license or permit of any such person, if it finds that as to the applicant, licensee, or permittee any one or more of the following applicable grounds exist:

(11) Rebating, or attempt thereat, or unlawfully dividing or offering to divide his commission with another.

Section 626.9541 provides in part as follows:

Unfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices defined.—

(1) UNFAIR METHODS OF COMPETITION AND UNFAIR OR DECEPTIVE ACTS.— The following are defined as unfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices:

- (h) Rebates.--
- 1. Except as otherwise expressly provided by law, or in an applicable filing with the department, knowingly:
- a. Permitting, or offering to make, or making, any contract or agreement as to such contract other than as plainly expressed in the insurance contract issued thereon;

Paying, allowing, or giving, or offering to pay, allow, or give, directly or indirectly, as inducement to such insurance contract, any rebate of premiums payable on the contract, any special favor or advantage in the dividends or other benefits thereon, or any valuable consideration or inducement whatever not specified in the contract; Giving, selling, or purchasing or offering to give, sell, or purchase, as inducement to such insurance contract or in connection therewith, any stocks, bonds, or other securities of any insurance company or other corporation, association, or partnership, or any dividends or profits accrued thereon, or anything of value whatsoever not specified in the insurance contract.

It is Department's position and the trial court recognized that the business of insurance is so affected with the public interest that it is subject to the regulation and control of the Legislature of this State through the exercise of the police The anti-rebate statutes are integral parts of the legislative exercise of police power through a statutory scheme to regulate the cost of insurance in the State of Florida to the end that the cost of insurance not be inadequate, excessive, or unfairly discriminatory. The anti-rebate statutes prevent circumvention of the Department's authority to review rates and protect the integrity of the insurance contract, pursuant to Chapter 627, Florida Statutes. Accordingly, these provisions are a constitutional exercise of the state's police power, reasonably related to a legitimate state interest: equality and fairness for all policyholders. Contrary to the standard of review applied by the District Court, a statute exercising the police

power is constitutional if the statute has a reasonable relationship to the public health, safety, or welfare. In this instance, the above-quoted anti-rebate statutes in question bear a reasonable relationship to the public welfare and are, therefore, a permissible legislative expression of the police power. If facts can be conceived that demonstrate the reasonableness of the statute, then it should be upheld. There are a number of improper practices which the Legislature intended to address by prohibiting rebating and which should properly be considered by the Court when it reviews the statutes in question. It is the DCCA's burden to clearly demonstrate that the anti-rebate statutes have no reasonable relationship to a legitimate state interest. The DCCA has failed to carry this burden.

The DCCA seeks to invalidate Section 626.9541(1)(h)1., Florida Statutes, in its entirety. This statute is not limited to the subject of an insurance agent giving a portion of his commission only to the purchaser of insurance. It also includes premiums, dividends, or any other valuable consideration offered or given to anyone. The statute also prohibits offering or permitting any alteration of the insurance contract or any inducement to the purchase of insurance whatsoever not specified in the insurance contract. Therefore, if the DCCA prevails, not only can agents rebate their commissions to anyone, but also the insurance companies they represent can modify the terms of the

insurance contract from one insured to another. The decision of the District Court, if allowed to stand, would undermine the entire statutory scheme for regulating the costs of insurance.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE ANTI-REBATE STATUTES DO NOT VIOLATE THE DUE PROCESS CLAUSE OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION SINCE THEY ARE RATIONALLY RELATED TO THE LEGITIMATE STATE INTEREST OF REGULATING THE PRICE OF INSURANCE IN THE STATE OF FLORIDA.
- A. The Standard For Review Is A Reasonable Basis Test.

The standard for review in this case is whether the party challenging the statute has demonstrated that the provision is wholly arbitrary and capricious, and bears no relationship to any demonstrated or conceivable public interest. If, in fact, any reasonable basis exists for believing that the statute will accomplish a legitimate legislative purpose, it must be upheld.

In <u>Lasky v. State Farm Ins. Co.</u>, 296 So.2d 9 (Fla. 1974), this Court described the reasonable basis test as follows:

The test to be used in determining whether an act is violative of the due process clause is whether the statute bears a reasonable relation to a permissible legislative objective and is not discriminatory, arbitrary or oppressive. . In [examining this relationship], we do not concern ourselves with the wisdom of the Legislature in choosing the means to be used, or even with whether the means chosen will in fact accomplish the intended goals; our only concern is with the constitutionality of the means chosen.

Id. at 15 and 16.

In <u>United States Fidelity & Guaranty Co. v. Dep't of Ins.</u>,
453 So.2d 1355, 1362 (Fla. 1984), this Court reaffirmed the
reasonable basis test as the applicable standard in reviewing the
Florida Insurance Code. In that decision, this Court stated:

Next appellants argue that section 627.066 is not reasonably related to the legislative goal of protecting policyholders from exorbitantly high rates. They contend that the statute may actually cause higher rates by encouraging inefficient management and discouraging competition. The fact that a statute may not actually accomplish its intended goals is not a sufficient reason for declaring the statute unconstitutional. The test is whether the legislature at the time it enacts the statute has a reasonable basis for believing that the statute will accomplish a legitimate legislative purpose. (Citations omitted.)

In matters of social and economic welfare, a party challenging the constitutionality of a statute on due process grounds must allege and prove that the statute is wholly arbitrary and capricious and that the statute bears no relationship to any demonstrated or conceivable public interest. Woods v. Holy Cross Hosp., 591 F.2d 1164 (5th Cir. 1979). It is clear that the regulation of the business of insurance and the cost of insurance contracts have been recognized by Florida courts as involving legitimate social and economic state interests which require special deference to legislative and administrative acts. See, Department of Ins. v. Teachers Ins. Co., 404 So.2d 735 (Fla. 1981); Williams v. Hartford Accident & Indemnity Co., 245 So.2d 64 (Fla. 1971); United States Fidelity & Guaranty Co. v. Dep't of Ins., supra; and Department of Ins. v. Southeast Volusia Hosp. District, 438 So.2d 815 (Fla. 1983). There are two limited exceptions to this general principle; arbitrary or oppressive exercise of the police power or the existence of a "fundamental right" as the object of

the regulation. Neither exception has been presented as an issue in this case.

B. The DCCA Has A Substantial Legal Burden Placed Upon It Under The Reasonable Basis Test.

In matters of economic and social welfare, such as here, the deference due the Legislature is especially great and the burden of proof on any party challenging a legislative judgment is heavy. That burden requires the challenging party to allege and prove that the statute is wholly arbitrary and has no reasonable relationship to any demonstrated or conceivable public interest. Pinillos v. Cedars of Lebanon Hosp. Corp., 403 So.2d 365 (Fla. 1981); In Re Estate of Greenberg, 390 So.2d 40 (Fla. 1980); and Woods v. Holy Cross Hosp., 591 F.2d 1164 (5th Cir. 1979). The difficulty in meeting this burden was summarized accurately by the First District Court in Sasso v. Ram Property Management, 431 So.2d 204 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983). In discussing the rational basis test in an equal protection context, the Court held:

Generally, as long as the classificatory scheme chosen by the legislature rationally advances a legitimate governmental objective, courts will disregard the methods used in achieving the objective, and the challenged enactment will be upheld. (Citations omitted.) The test, like that used in McGowan v. Maryland is still highly deferential toward actions taken by the state - perhaps unduly It is moreover virtually insurmountable, because the burden of showing the state action is without any rational basis is placed on the individual assailing the classificatory scheme. (Footnote omitted.)

431 So.2d at 216 and 217.

These comments are equally applicable to the due process clause rational basis test. Expecially since no factual record exists in this case, the DCCA certainly has not met its burden of demonstrating that no reasonable basis exists for the enactment of the anti-rebate statutes.

C. Under The Correct Standard of Review, The Anti-Rebate Statutes Are Constitutional.

The anti-rebate statutes are integral parts of a statutory scheme to regulate the cost of insurance in the State of Florida to establish that for all insureds, the rate paid is adequate and not excessive or unfairly discriminatory. A review of the anti-rebate statutes clearly indicates that the Legislature intended to provide regulation and protection to consumers as a class rather than narrowly focusing upon an individual transaction. This is an important point to consider in analyzing the constitutionality of these provisions. The Legislature intended to provide regulation and consumer protection in a much broader fashion than the narrow issue of a single rebate focused upon by the DCCA and the District Court in its opinion.

The Florida Insurance Code sets forth complex procedures for evaluating and reviewing rates to be utilized by insurers in Florida. The express purpose of these provisions is to prevent the use of rates which are excessive, inadequate, or unfairly discriminatory. Section 627.031(1)(a), Florida Statutes.

Insurance rates must be filed with the Department and may only be deviated from in accordance with prescribed statutory procedures.

A significant portion of most rates is the commission paid to agents. The commission is based on a percentage of a rate which is actuarially established to provide the appropriate premium or rate for each class of consumer based on factors like age, experience and territory. Actuarial differentials in rates which are designed to promote fairness, and bring precision to ratemaking can be totally undermined by manipulation of the commission charged. The anti-rebate statutes serve a legitimate state interest by preventing circumvention of the Florida rating law and the underlying premise that rates are established utilizing reasonable actuarial principles.

When this Court reviews the anti-rebate statutes under the previously discussed standard of review, federal case law should be considered because the requirements of due process under the United States and Florida Constitutions are indistinguishable. The Second District Court in <u>Florida Canners Ass'n v. State</u>, <u>Dep't of Citrus</u>, 371 So.2d 503, 513 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979), stated:

Both the 14th Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 9, of the Florida Constitution prohibit the taking of property without due process of law. We consider the federal and Florida constitutional guarantees as imposing the same standard and will discuss them as one. Florida High School Activities Association v. Bradshaw, 369 So.2d 398 (Fla. 2d DCA 1978).

The Second District's Opinion was affirmed by the Florida Supreme Court in Coca-Cola Co., Food Division v. State, Dep't of Citrus, 406 So.2d 1079 (Fla. 1981). Therefore, the United States Supreme

Court's decisions concerning rebating, if not controlling, carry great weight in the issue at bar.

In O'Gorman & Young v. Hartford Fire Ins. Co., 282 U.S. 251, 257 & 258, 51 S.Ct. 130, 75 L.Ed. 324 (1931), the Supreme Court unequivocably recognized the integral relationship between rates and commissions when it said in an opinion authored by Justice Brandeis:

The business of insurance is so far affected with a public interest that the state may regulate the rates. . . and likewise the relations of those engaged in the business. . . The agent's compensation, being a percentage of the premium, bears a direct relation to the rate charged to the insured. The percentage commonly allowed is so large that it is a vital element in the rate structure and may seriously affect the adequacy of the rate. Excessive commissions may result in an unreasonably high rate level or in impairment of the financial stability of the insurer. was stated at the bar that the commission on some classes of insurance is as high as 35 percent. Moreover, lack of a uniform scale of commissions allowed local agents for the same service may encourage unfair discrimination among policyholders by facilitating the forbidden practice of rebating. In the field of life insurance, such evils led long ago to legislative limitations of agents' commissions. (Citations omitted, emphasis added.)

The Supreme Court's ruling in <u>O'Gorman</u> regarding the regulation of agent's commission was reaffirmed in <u>Osborn v.</u>

<u>Ozlin</u>, 310 U.S. 53, 60 S.Ct. 758, 84 L.Ed. 1074 (1940).

Recognition that commission manipulation can disrupt rate fairness has a long history. In 1914, the Supreme Court in German Alliance Ins. Co. v. Lewis, 233 U.S. 389, 34 S.Ct. 612, 58

L.Ed. 1011 (1914), recognized the legitimate state interest in regulating rates and the Court's role in reviewing legislative implementation of that interest through rate regulation. The Court said:

We have summarized the provisions of the Kansas statute, and it will be observed from them that they attempt to systematize the The statute seeks to control of insurance. secure rates which shall be reasonable both to the insurer and the insured, and as a means to this end it prescribes equality of charges, forbids initial discrimination or subsequently by the refund of a portion of the rates, or the extension to the insured of any privilege; to this end it requires publicity in the basic schedules and of all the conditions which affect the rates or the value of the insurance to the insured, and also adherence to the rates as published. Whether the requirements are necessary to the purpose, or--to confine ourselves to that which is under review-whether rate regulation is necessary to the purpose, is a matter for legislative judgment, not judicial. Our function is only to determine the existence of [the] power. (Emphasis added.)

233 U.S. at 417.

Upon the basis of the foregoing, it is clear that the United States Supreme Court ruled long ago that statutes such as the anti-rebate statutes are a proper exercise of a state's police power.

The District Court's opinion failed to distinguish these cases. It simply stated that it was unimpressed by these cases as a result of the revolution in consumers rights which has occurred since the turn of the century. The economic interests of consumers are not fundamental rights worthy of any

exception of the due process standards for the exercise of police power. The Legislature has not chosen to ignore the consumer. Rather, as a matter of policy, it selected a method of regulation which protects the consumer as a group. In this regard, the District Court substituted its judgment for that of the Legislature. Further, the mere passage of time does not justify ignoring United States Supreme Court cases directly on point to the issue in this case as the O'Gorman, Osborn and German Alliance cases are.

When this Court determines the reasonableness of the antirebate statutes, it should consider that the Legislature has made the basic policy decision that the cost of insurance should be based upon actuarial considerations and not the bargaining strength of certain groups or individuals. This legislative determination results in every individual paying a fair price for their insurance. The alternative would allow influential or sophisticated purchasers of insurance to demand that they be subsidized by those in a weaker bargaining position. Generally, rebating would favor large commercial establishments to the detriment of single consumers who purchase auto, life and health insurance. This subsidization, based on whim and persuasion, not actuarial support, is unfair discrimination prohibited by the anti-rebate statutes. However, it would be meaningless to prevent companies themselves from engaging in this discrimination if the same can be accomplished by agents rebating a portion of the premium to certain preferred customers.

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