45 007

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

No. 66,178

FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAR 18 1986

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

DEPARTMENT OF INSURANCE, et al.

Appellants,

v.

DADE COUNTY CONSUMER ADVOCATE'S OFFICE, et al.

Appellees.

Appeal from the District Court of Appeal,
First District

LIST OF APPELLEES

William B. Schultz
Alan B. Morrison
Public Citizen Litigation Group
Suite 700
2000 F Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20036
(202) 755-3704

Mary Charlotte McCall
226 W. Pensacola Street
Suite 100
Post Office Box 11214
Tallahassee, Florida 32302
(904) 224-3039

Attorneys for Appellees

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

ARGUMENT

THE ANTI-REBATE STATUTES ARE UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

In this action, Dade County Consumers do not challenge the State of Florida's constitutional power to regulate insurance premiums in order to prevent them from being excessive, inadequate, or unfairly discriminatory. Nor have they challenged the State's power to regulate insurance companies by overseeing their rates and requiring them to maintain financial stability. However, and this is the key to Dade County Consumers' argument, the Department cannot use the rationale

(footnote continued)

Consumers' motion for summary judgment, including an affidavit (R. 70-72, 76-82), the Department did not inform the trial court of its desire to submit additional evidence. Moreover, the Department did not submit additional evidence on several previous occasions in the prior cases when it had the opportunity to do so. Blumenthal v. Department of Insurance, supra; Dade County Consumer Advocate's Office v. Department of Insurance, supra, No. 81-5943. Third, the Department has not identified any material facts which it believes are at issue.

In any event, the District Court did not rely on the Justice Department Report for its decision. Instead it simply cited that Report to support its description of how the industry operates, and, by way of example, for an argument concerning the effect of rebating on the quality of the agent's service. 457 So.2d at 497 nn. 3 & 4. Even if it had not been submitted in the record, the Report is a public document, and the District Court could have considered it on that basis. Florida Evidence Code, § 90.202(5), Fla. Stat. (1984). Indeed, as persuasive authority, it has the same status as the Armstrong Committee Report which was not even cited to the trial court, but which the Department relies on in its brief in this Court. Dept. Br. at 40.

of protecting policy holders to justify the provisions at issue here because the anti-rebate statutes only apply to the commission portion of the premium, none of which is available to pay future claims by the company. While the Department suggests that allowing rebates will lead to a parade of horrors that will undermine the stability of Florida's insurance industry, that suggestion is founded on wild speculation and assumes that the Department would neglect its duty to prevent improper practices under other admittedly valid provisions in the Insurance Code. Because there is no basis for such speculation, it cannot provide the rationale for sustaining these statutes.

In addition, there is no dispute among the parties as to whether the State has the power to regulate insurance agents by requiring that they be licensed or by prohibiting discrimination through secret rebates or other unfair practices. The sole issue in this case is whether, in addition to the regulation of insurance companies and agents that is within the legislature's power, the State may also prohibit agents from giving a portion of their commission to their customers as a method of reducing the cost of life insurance and attracting new business. And in answering that question, the anti-rebate statutes must be tested against this background and against the constitutional requirements in this State that all legislation bear a reasonable and substantial relationship to the public health, safety, and welfare.

A. This Court Has Carefully Reviewed Economic Protection Statutes Such As These And Required That They Substantially And Reasonably Promote The Public Welfare.

Article I, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution declares that "[n]o person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property without due process of law" Before determining whether the anti-rebate statutes violate this provision, the preliminary inquiry is what standard of review should be applied. Although the decisions of this Court involving the due process clause of the Florida Constitution have not always dealt explicitly with this question, or always used the same terminology in describing the appropriate standard of review, it is apparent that this Court has applied a far more searching inquiry than the highest courts in many other states when assessing the validity of state statutes. Most importantly, the approach used is wholly different from that taken by the United States Supreme Court when it has reviewed substantive due process challenges under the federal Constitution.

Over thirty years ago, this Court recognized explicitly the different standard in Florida, declaring that "perhaps more so than many others, [it] has been alert to any trespass on citizens' constitutional rights," Liquor Store v. Continental Distilling Corp., 40 So.2d 371, 374 (Fla. 1949). During the years following the Liquor Store case, in which this Court declared Florida's Fair Trade Act unconstitutional even though several other jurisdictions had previously reached the opposite

conclusion under their respective constitutions, this Court has evaluated the constitutionality of a wide variety of statutes. A review of those cases demonstrates both that it has carefully scrutinized economic protection laws such as those at issue here and that in the instant case the District Court correctly identified the appropriate standard as being whether the statutes being challenged "reasonably and substantially promote the public health, safety or welfare." Dade County Consumer Advocate's Office v. Dept. of Insurance, supra, 457 So.2d at 497.

For example, in Horsemen's Benev. Ass'n v. Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering, 397 So.2d 692 (Fla. 1981), this Court recently evaluated a statute which required certain racetracks to pay 1% of the purse to a Florida horsemen's trade association to promote the racing and tourist industries in Florida. Although it held that the purpose for which the statute was enacted was legitimate, the Court found that the statute was unconstitutional, since there was no provision requiring that the funds be spent to promote racing. Id. at 695.

The careful scrutiny of state laws to ensure that they do not sacrifice the public welfare to special interests extends to other areas as well. For example, in 1962, the Court declared unconstitutional a law prohibiting druggists from advertising the price of prescription drugs as an "intrusion on private rights" which was "completely lacking in public

benefit." Stadnik v. Shell's City, Inc., 140 So.2d 871, 875 (Fla. 1962).^{5/} In another case dealing with regulation of drugs, the Court declared unconstitutional a statute requiring that all operations of a drug store be supervised by a licensed pharmacist. State v. Leone, 118 So.2d 781 (Fla. 1960). Although the legislature clearly has the power to require that all controlled drugs and medical supplies be prepared and dispensed only by licensed pharmacists, this Court ruled that it could not accomplish that legitimate goal by a broad statute which extended the requirement to non-pharmaceutical aspects of a drug store. To do so would "discriminate against the owners and operators of such establishments without valid reason therefor." Id. at 785. In Coca-Cola, Food Division v. State, Dep't of Citrus, 406 S.2d 1079, 1086 (Fla 1981), this Court reiterated that the legislature "must elect that course which will infringe the least on the rights of the individual," although in that case it found that the statute met the standard.

The Court has extended the principle that all statutes must bear a substantial and reasonable relationship to the public welfare to a variety of occupations. For example, in Larson v. Lesser, 106 So.2d 188 (Fla. 1958), it declared unconstitutional a statute prohibiting public adjusters from soliciting business. A public adjuster is one who, for a fee, estimates

^{5/} The Court renewed that ruling in Florida Board of Pharmacy v. Webb's City, Inc., 219 So.2d 681 (Fla. 1969).

the value of property lost through fire or other casualty and undertakes to settle claims with insurance companies. This Court declared the statute unconstitutional because it found no sound basis in the public welfare that justified the restriction on how adjusters obtained customers.

The Court has even extended the requirement that statutes not unduly infringe on the rights of individuals to pursue their chosen occupation in their chosen manner to regulations governing auctions, Perry Trading Co. v. City of Tallahassee, 174 So. 854 (1937), and to a law which limited the amount of celery which could be sold in Florida by awarding allotments only to farmers who had grown the crop between 1960 and 1962, Rabin v. Conner, 174 So.2d 721 (1965). In the latter decision, the Court noted that the legislature had made extensive findings documenting the problems facing celery producers, but it nevertheless held that the statute unjustly discriminated between those who were producers between 1960 and 1962 and those who were not.

In Castlewood International Corporation v. Wynne, 294 So.2d 321, 324 (1974) (per curiam), the Court declared unconstitutional a statute requiring sales of beer and wine by retail establishments to be for cash only because the statute imposed "invidious discrimination" on wine and beer retailers since it did not apply to hard liquors, and also because it was not "rationally related to the legitimate purpose at issue." The clear message of these cases is that this Court will review legislation regulating economic activity with considerable care,

and will not simply rubber stamp legislative judgments in this field.

The Department, on the other hand, argues for a more relaxed or "rational relationship" test, but its cases do not support its contention for one reason: each of them involves statutes which in fact met a higher standard. For example, in Lasky v. State Farm Insurance Co., 296 So.2d 9, 16-17 (Fla. 1974), this Court found that Florida automobile no-fault statutes achieved numerous legitimate state objectives, including less congestion in the courts, fewer delays in payments to victims, and more assurance that victims will be compensated. Similarly, in United States Fidelity & Guarantee Corp. v. Department of Insurance, 453 So.2d 1353 (1984), this Court upheld a statute requiring insurance companies to refund excess profits on the grounds that elimination of windfall profits is a legitimate state purpose, which the legislature had a basis for concluding the statute would accomplish. The other Florida cases relied on by the Department also concerned statutes for which there was a reasonable and substantial connection to the public welfare. Carroll v. State, 361 So.2d 144 (Fla. 1978) (prohibition on lotteries); Belk-James, Inc. v. Nuzum, 358 So.2d 174 (Fla. 1978) (requirement that manufacturer print "Florida" on back of beer sold in State justified by State's interest in insuring freshness of beer and in policing collection of excise taxes); Coca-Cola Co., Food Division v. State, Dep't of Citrus, 406 So.2d 1079 (Fla. 1981) (requirement

that Florida grapefruit identify "Florida" on label linked to state interest in encouraging consumers to purchase Florida fruit).

This Court's approach to substantive due process under the Florida constitution differs markedly from that adopted by the United States Supreme Court in evaluating cases under the due process clause of the federal Constitution. Since United States v. Carolene Products Co., 304 U.S. 144, 58 S.Ct. 778, 82 L.Ed. 1234 (1936) (cited in Dept. Br. at 19), that Court has only once declared a statute unconstitutional on substantive due process grounds, Morey v. Doud, 354 U.S. 457, 77 S.Ct. 1344, 1 L.Ed.2d 1485 (1957), but it overruled that decision in City of New Orleans v. Dukes, 427 U.S. 297, 306, 96 S.Ct. 2513, 44 L.Ed.2d 511 (1976). Although the United States Supreme Court describes the test it applies in these cases as a "rational relationship test," according to one commentator, the message of these cases is "virtually complete judicial abdication" by the Supreme Court in scrutinizing statutes under the substantive due process clause. L. Tribe, American Constitutional Law, § 8-7, at 450 (1978).^{6/}

^{6/} For similar reasons, equal protection cases such as Sasso v. Ram Property Management, 431 So.2d 204 (Fla., 1st DCA 1983) have no application, since in evaluating equal protection challenges the Florida courts have applied the "highly deferential standard adopted by the U.S. Supreme Court." Id. at 216-17. Applying this standard, the Court also rejected two other cases relied on by the Department on the ground that there was no violation of the equal protection clause. Carroll v. State, supra, (state may prohibit the operation of lotteries, except by veterans organizations); Pinillos v. Cedars of Lebanon Hospital Corp., 403 So.2d 365 (Fla. 1981) (limitations on medical malpractice awards justified by medical malpractice insurance rates).

Thus, the Court has been willing to uphold legislation on the basis of "purely hypothetical facts" or "for virtually no substantive reason at all." Id.

Whereas the United States Supreme Court has upheld statutes where any legitimate state purpose "can be conceived," see Dept. Br. at 6, cases such as Horsemen's Benev. Ass'n demonstrate that this Court has adopted a far more searching standard. Thus, in that case the Court could have sustained the statute if it had been willing to assume that the private association would have used the money raised from the tax to promote racing, as intended by the legislature. Such a justification would have plainly been sufficient under the standard of review adopted by the United States Supreme Court. However, the mere possibility that the money would be used for other purposes was a sufficient basis for this Court to find the tax unconstitutional. Horsemen's Benev. Ass'n v. Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering, supra, 397 So.2d at 695.

While categorical statements can not be made about the approach to substantive due process taken by other states, the cases on which the Department relies demonstrate that those states have not engaged in the searching analysis of economic regulation required by the decisions of this Court. The Department is correct that on occasion this Court, like the U.S. Supreme Court, has described the test it employs in substantive due process cases as a "rational relationship test." However, in urging the Court to follow cases of the U.S. Supreme Court, the Department overlooks the fact that

this Court has on at least two recent occasions applied this standard to declare statutes unconstitutional. Horsemen's Benev. Ass'n v. Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering, supra, 397 So. 2d at 694; Castlewood International Corporation v. Wynne, supra, 294 So.2d at 324; see also Stadnik v. Shell's City Inc., supra, 140 So.2d at 874-75 ("reasonable relationship" test employed to declare statute unconstitutional). On numerous other occasions it has voided economic regulations under the due process clause in the Florida Constitution without specifically discussing the standard of review. See pp. 12-15, supra. In short, while the Court has not always used the same terms to describe its standard of review, its actions in setting aside numerous statutes similar to those at issue here speak louder than any verbal formulations contained in its opinions.

Perhaps the most surprising aspect of the Department's efforts to obtain a very minimal review of the anti-rebate laws is that its approach is directly contradicted by the views of its own lawyer, the Attorney General of Florida. Thus, in a recent opinion, the Attorney General examined the question of the appropriate standard for evaluating the constitutionality of Florida statutes under the due process clause, and he used almost precisely the same formulation as the First District Court of Appeal did here to describe the standard of review applicable in cases such as this. In summarizing the applicable legal standard, the Attorney General stated that the power of a municipality in that case

to regulate the hours of business establishments depends on "whether the regulation is required for the public health, morals, peace, safety, or welfare and whether the regulation is reasonably and substantially connected with the public interest to be served." 1977 Op. Att'y Gen. Fla. 077-139 (December 30, 1977) (emphasis added). This interpretation, we submit, is entirely correct and consistent with the rigorous standard that this Court has applied in cases such as this.

B. The Anti-Rebate Statutes Have No Relationship To The Public Welfare.

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